
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA 

____________________________________ 
(1) AMERICAN HUMANIST ) 
ASSOCIATION, INC.; ) 
(2) JOHN DOE, individually and as parent )
and next friend to JILL DOE;   )
(3) JANE DOE, individually and as parent )
and next friend to JILL DOE;  ) 
(4) JILL DOE, a minor; ) 

) 
Plaintiffs, ) 

) 
v. ) CASE NO.: XXXXXXXX 

) Civil Rights Action 
(1) ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT )
NO. 22 OF ADAIR COUNTY, ) 
OKLAHOMA, a/k/a MARYETTA ) 
PUBLIC SCHOOLS;  ) 
(2) LORI MEANS, individually and in her ) Hon. __________________ 
official capacity as Superintendent of  ) 
Elementary School District No. 22 of ) 
Adair County, Oklahoma;   ) 
(3) CHAD HARP, individually and in his  )
official capacity as Principal of Maryetta ) 
Public School;  ) 
(4) PATRICIA FREDERICK, individually )
and in her official capacity as ) 
Prekindergarten Teacher at Maryetta ) 
Public School;  ) 
(5) RICKEY CHRISTIE, individually and )
in his official capacity as Physical ) 
Education Teacher at Maryetta Public ) 
School, ) 

) 
Defendants. ) 
____________________________________) 

COMPLAINT 

20-cv-383-JFH
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 Seeking to protect and vindicate their constitutional rights, Plaintiffs state as their 

complaint against the above-captioned Defendants the following: 

NATURE OF THE CLAIMS 

1. This is an action brought to secure the protection of and to redress the deprivation 

of rights guaranteed by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, as incorporated 

unto the States through the Fourteenth Amendment. 

2. This action challenges the above-captioned Defendants’ policy, practice, and 

custom of advancing, endorsing, affiliating with, and sponsoring—both symbolically and 

tangibly—Christian missionaries and their proselytizing efforts to captive public school students 

during school hours. Defendants’ actions flagrantly violate the Establishment Clause of the First 

Amendment, as applied to Oklahoma by the Fourteenth Amendment.   

3. Plaintiffs seek declaratory relief, nominal damages, and punitive damages under 42 

U.S.C. § 1983 against Defendants to redress said Establishment Clause violations, together with 

recovery of attorney’s fees and costs under 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b).   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. This case arises under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution and 

presents a federal question within this Court’s jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 

1343(a)(3).  The Court has the authority to issue a declaratory judgment under 28 U.S.C. § 2201 

and to award damages under 28 U.S.C. § 1343.   

5. Venue is proper within this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) 

because the events giving rise to the Plaintiffs’ claims occurred herein. 

PARTIES 

6. The first Plaintiff, the American Humanist Association (“AHA”), is a national 

501(c)(3) membership organization incorporated in Illinois with a principal place of business in 

Washington, D.C. Founded in 1941, the AHA has over 240 chapters and affiliates nationwide 
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(including the Humanist Association of Tulsa and the Humanist Association of Payne County) and 

tens of thousands of members nationwide, including many in Oklahoma. The AHA promotes 

Humanism and is dedicated to advancing and preserving the separation of church and state. The 

AHA brings this action to assert the First Amendment rights of its members. 

7. All individual Plaintiffs have a compelling need to remain anonymous throughout 

this litigation as set forth in the motion and memorandum filed in conjunction with this Complaint. 

8. Plaintiff John Doe is a citizen of the United States. John is father, legal guardian, 

and next friend to Plaintiff Jill Doe. John is married to Plaintiff Jane Doe.  

9. Plaintiff Jane Doe is a citizen of the United States. Jane is mother, legal guardian, 

and next friend to Plaintiff Jill Doe.  

10. Plaintiffs John and Jane Doe are members of the AHA.  

11. John and Jane Doe identify as secular Humanists. Their beliefs are non-theistic, and 

as such, both of them reject the existence of any deity. They have raised their two children in 

accordance with their non-theistic Humanist convictions and intend to continue to do so.1  

12. Plaintiff Jill Doe is five years old. She was enrolled in Elementary School District 

No. 22 of Adair County, Oklahoma from the period of August 2018 through the end of the 2019-

2020 school year.  

13. Defendant Elementary School District No. 22 of Adair County, Oklahoma, also 

known as Maryetta Public Schools (the “School District”), is a governing body for public schools 

located in Stilwell, Adair County, Oklahoma. 

14. The School District’s address is 100 Maryetta Road, Stilwell, OK 74960. The 

School District may be served with process at its principal place of business: Attn: Kevin Stuhmer, 

 
1 Each Doe plaintiff has submitted a declaration verifying these facts as true. See Decl. of John 
Doe, ¶ 6; Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 6; Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 4.  
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clerk, 100 Maryetta Road, Stilwell, OK 74960, or served electronically with email correspondence 

addressed to Kevin Stuhmer, clerk, kstuhmer@maryetta.org.  

15. Although the School District’s address is in Stilwell, it is a separate and distinct 

entity from Stilwell Public Schools, which is also located in Stilwell.  

16. The School District’s website is www.maryetta.k12.ok.us. 

17. The School District is an “Elementary District,” teaching students in 

prekindergarten through eighth grade, with graduates going on to attend high school in other school 

districts. 

18. The School District contains only one school, Maryetta Public School (“the 

School”), sometimes referred to simply as “Maryetta School.” 

19. The School consists of a single building that houses all students and faculty in the 

School District, as well as the District-level administration.  

20.  According to the Oklahoma State Department of Education’s website, there are 

638 students enrolled in the School District in the 2019-2020 school year.2  

21. The School District’s prekindergarten program is two years long. Students enroll 

in their first year of prekindergarten at age three, and their second year at age four. Graduates of 

the prekindergarten program continue on to kindergarten. 

22. There are currently 76 total students enrolled in the School District’s two-year 

prekindergarten program.3  

23. Defendant Lori Means (“Means”) is the Superintendent of the School District. 

Means is sued in her individual capacity and in her official capacity as Superintendent of Maryetta 

Public Schools. 

 
2 “District enrollment.xlsx,” data released Dec. 9, 2019, https://perma.cc/WQT7-E669 (last 
visited Mar. 17, 2020).  
3 Id. 

6:20-cv-00383-JFH   Document 2   Filed in ED/OK on 10/27/20   Page 4 of 24



 

 4 

24. Defendant Means has served as the Superintendent of the School District since 

2007. 

25. Defendant Means is the executive officer of the board of education and the 

administrative head of the School District’s school system. 

26. Defendant Chad Harp (“Harp”) is the Principal of the School. He is sued in his 

individual capacity and official capacity as Principal. 

27. Upon information and belief, Defendant Harp has served as the Principal of the 

School since July of 2018. 

28. Defendant Harp has supervisory and administrative authority over the School. 

29. Defendant Patricia Frederick (“Frederick”) is a prekindergarten teacher at the 

School. She is sued in her individual capacity and official capacity as a teacher and employee at 

the School.  

30. Defendant Frederick has taught prekindergarten at the School since at least 2007. 

31. Defendant Frederick was Jill Doe’s prekindergarten teacher during the 2019-2020 

school year. 

32. Defendant Rickey Christie (“Christie”) is a Physical Education instructor at the 

School. He is sued in his individual capacity and in his official capacity as a teacher and employee 

at the School. 

33. Defendant Christie has been employed by the School District since at least 2007.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The School District’s “Missionaries” Class 

34. The School District has had a longstanding policy and practice of bringing Christian 

missionaries into the School as part of the regular curriculum for its students.  

35. The School District calls this class or program “Missionaries.”   
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36. The Missionaries program has been regularly conducted at the School District and 

the School for decades.  

37. At all relevant times, the Missionaries class occurred on a regular, monthly basis. 

38. The Missionaries class has typically been scheduled on the first Tuesday of each 

month while school is in session.    

39. The Missionaries class takes place during school hours.  

40. The Missionaries class is held for students of all grades in the School District, 

prekindergarten through eighth grade.   

41. The Missionaries class is placed on the School District’s official school calendar 

and in daily email announcements.    

42. True and accurate copies of official School District calendars for the 2016-2017, 

2017-2018, 2018-2019, and 2019-2020 (through December 2019) school years are attached herein 

as Exhibit 1. These copies (including any redactions) were furnished by the School District to the 

AHA pursuant to the AHA’s Open Records Request on December 4, 2019, attached herein as 

Exhibit 6.  

43. True and accurate copies of email announcements related to the Missionaries 

program are attached herein as Exhibit 2. 

44. Attached herein as Exhibit 3 is a true and accurate screenshot of the School 

District’s March 2018 calendar reflecting the Missionaries class held on March 6, 2018. The 

screenshot was provided to the AHA by the School District on December 13, 2019 as part of the 

83 pages furnished in response to the AHA’s Open Records Request.   

45. The School District groups students by grades to participate in the Missionaries 

class. For instance, in September 2017, the School District scheduled “1st-4th grade” to “go first.” 

(Exhibit 2 at 2). In October 2017, the School District scheduled “5th-8th grade students” to “be 
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first.” (Exhibit 2 at 3). The School District has grouped prekindergarten and kindergarten students 

together for their Missionaries block. (Exhibit 2 at 8).  

46. There are no alternative classes or programs for students to attend in lieu of 

attending Missionaries during that class's scheduled time. (See Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 19). 

47. The Missionaries class has been held in the “Old Gym” and the “Middle Gym” at 

the School. (See Exhibit 2 at 24). 

48. The Missionaries classes for prekindergarten students have been held in the 

“psychomotor room,” which is the same room where prekindergarten children usually have 

physical education classes. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 6). 

49. When prekindergarten students are taken to the Missionaries class, their class 

teacher, teaching assistant, and often the classroom “granny” or “grandpa” accompany the students 

and stay with them throughout the class. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 9). 

50. A classroom “granny” or “grandpa” is usually a retired adult from the surrounding 

community who volunteers to help manage classrooms of younger students at the School. 

51. The Missionaries class lasts between thirty and sixty minutes. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 

8).  

52. The Missionaries class has typically been scheduled during the prekindergarten 

swim class period. On days when prekindergarten students are scheduled to attend Missionaries 

class, their swim class is cancelled and they attend Missionaries in its place. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 

7). 

53. The Missionaries class proselytizes Christianity to a captive audience of young and 

impressionable public school children. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶¶ 11-15). 

54. The Missionaries class is typically led by a group of three men who are known as 

“missionaries.” (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 10). 
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55.  The Missionaries class consists of singing songs and playing games with a captive 

student audience. The classes promote Christianity, Jesus, and god-belief. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶¶ 

10-18). 

56. Attached herein as Exhibit 4 are true and accurate copies of materials that were 

given to students during Missionaries classes. These materials were furnished to the AHA by the 

School District on December 13, 2019.  

57. Attached herein as Exhibit 5 is a true and accurate photograph of the Christian-

themed coloring page with a reference to Biblical scripture that was given to Jill Doe on December 

3, 2019 when she was compelled to attend a Missionaries class. (See Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶¶ 28-29).  

58. Jill Doe handed the coloring page shown in Exhibit 5 to her mother on December 

3, 2019. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 29).     

59. Bibles have also been distributed to prekindergarten students by the missionaries 

during school hours without parental consent. (See Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 13; Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶¶ 

7-8). 

60. The missionaries have a practice of picking on students to participate by tossing a 

ball towards the students and having whoever catches the ball join in their presentation. (Decl. of 

Jill Doe, ¶¶ 14-15). 

61. Students are expected to attend the Missionaries class just as they would any other 

class held during the school day. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 19). 

62. The School District does not have a policy or practice of providing students with 

an option to opt-out of the Missionaries class. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 19).   

63. The School District does not have a policy or practice of providing students or 

parents with a permission slip to opt-in to the Missionaries class.  

64. The School District has described the Missionaries class as “character education.” 

(Exhibit 9 at 3); see also (Decl. of John Doe, ¶¶ 17, 19). 
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65. Upon information and belief, all of the missionaries that have participated in the 

Missionaries program at the School District have represented the Christian faith.  

66. No non-Christian “missionaries” have presented as part of the School District’s 

Missionaries program.   

67. In addition to making the Missionaries a component of its public school curriculum, 

the School District actively endorses and supports the missionaries in other ways. For example, a 

November 15, 2018 email from School District Secretary Sheridan Soap with the subject line 

“MISSIONARIES CHRISTMAS GIFT” stated, in part: “Please have your students bring non-

perishable items to school before December 4th. We would love to show the missionaries how 

much we appreciate them! Thank you!” A true and accurate copy of this email is attached herein 

as Exhibit 2 at 15. 

68. A December 4, 2017 email from School District Secretary Michelle Brooks with 

the subject line “Monday/Announcements” stated, in part: “Missionaries will be here tomorrow. 

5th-8th grade students will go first. If you would like to donate andy [sic] non-perishable food items 

for the Missionaries. [sic] You can bring your donation to the front office.” A true and accurate 

copy of this email is attached herein as Exhibit 2 at 5. 

69. Attached herein as Exhibit 10 is a true and accurate copy of screen captures taken 

of the School District’s website on January 28, 2020 at the URL 

maryetta.k12.ok.us/o/district/live_feed. In pertinent part, a post on the school website’s Live Feed 

from “ABOUT 2 YEARS AGO” by Sheridan Soap reads: “Missionaries will be here tomorrow. 

Please bring your non-perishable items to the Front Office before 9:00 am. Thank you for your 

generosity!” 

70. An April 17, 2018 email from School District Secretary Michelle Brooks with the 

subject line “Tuesday Announcements” stated in part: “Missionaries will be here on [sic] 
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tomorrow, due to testing, 1st-4th grade, Kindergarten, and the Preschool students will be the only 

ones going.” A true and accurate copy of this email is attached herein as Exhibit 2 at 8. 

71. A September 5, 2018 email from School District Secretary Michelle Brooks with 

the subject line “Missionaries/Tornado drill” stated in part: “Missionaries will be here tomorrow 

(Thurs. 9/6/18). 1st-4th grade will go first at 8:05. We will postponed [sic] the tornado drill till 1:00 

pm.” A true and accurate copy of this email is attached herein as Exhibit 2 at 9. 

72. A March 29, 2019 email from School District Secretary Michelle Brooks with the 

subject line “Friday Announcements” stated in part: “Missionaries will be here on Monday, 5th-8th 

grade students will go first.” A true and accurate copy of this email is attached herein as Exhibit 2 

at 26. 

73. A November 14, 2019 email from School District Secretary Michelle Brooks with 

the subject line “Thursday Announcements” stated in part: “Missionaries will be here on Tuesday 

Dec. 3rd. We have a little over a week, if anyone is able to donate any non-perishable food items 

to them, you can bring items to the front office.” A true and accurate copy of this email is attached 

herein as Exhibit 2 at 27.  

Jill Doe’s Forced Participation in the Missionaries Program 

74. Plaintiff Jill Doe first attended prekindergarten at the School starting in August of 

2018. At the time, she was three years old. She has been raised as a non-theistic Humanist and 

does not believe in any god or gods. (See Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶¶ 2-4; Decl. of John Doe, ¶¶ 1-2, 6; 

Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶¶ 1-2, 6). 

75. In her short time at the School District, Jill was compelled to attend approximately 

eleven Missionaries classes.  

76. At no point were John, Jane, or Jill provided with a permission slip or the like from 

the School District for Missionaries classes. (See Decl. of John Doe, ¶ 10; Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 9; 

Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 20). 
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77. At no point prior to November of 2019 were John, Jane, or Jill informed that Jill 

could opt-out of attending Missionaries. (See Decl. of John Doe, ¶¶ 11, 25; Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 19; 

Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 23). 

78. Jane Doe first came to suspect that the missionaries were visiting Jill’s 

prekindergarten class around December of 2018. (Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶¶ 7-8). 

79. In December of 2018, the missionaries distributed pocket-sized copies of the New 

Testament to Jill Doe’s prekindergarten class during school hours. (Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 7; Decl. 

of Jill Doe, ¶ 13). 

80. Jill came home from school in December of 2018 with a copy of the New Testament 

that had been given to her at school by the missionaries. Neither John or Jane Doe were aware that 

their daughter would be meeting with Christian missionaries that day, nor were they aware that 

Bibles would be distributed. Neither parent consented to their daughter receiving a Bible during 

school hours by Christian missionaries. (Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶¶ 7-8; Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 13). 

81. John and Jane Doe next became aware of the Missionaries class in or around 

September of 2019.  

82. On or about September 10, 2019, Jane picked Jill up from school. After riding in 

the car for a short while, Jill asked, “Mom, is god real?” When Jane asked Jill what it was that 

prompted her to ask such a question, Jill said that, “these people came and sang songs and told us 

a story about god and how he’s real.” (Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 11). 

83. Jill also told Jane that Jill had stated aloud her belief that god is not real. Jill told 

her mother that Defendant Christie “told me not to say that or I’d get in trouble.” (Decl. of Jill 

Doe, ¶ 17; Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 12). 

84. Jill also told Jane that Defendant Christie had “corrected” Jill, telling her that, in 

fact, god is real. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 17; Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 12). 
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85. Jane and John were both alarmed by what Jill had told them of the Missionaries 

class, and resolved to discuss the matter with the administration in the coming months. (Decl. of 

Jane Doe, ¶ 14; Decl. of John Doe, ¶ 9). 

86. On this occasion, and on subsequent occasions immediately following classes with 

the missionaries, John and Jane both noticed marked changes in Jill’s behavior. Both parents 

describe Jill as a very “happy” child with a “sunny” disposition, but they noticed that Jill’s typically 

cheerful temperament would noticeably degrade on days where the missionaries would visit. 

(Decl. of John Doe, ¶ 8; Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶¶ 13, 15, 21, 30-32; Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶¶ 16, 21, 24, 

30). 

87. On or about November 5, 2019, Jane picked Jill up from school. Jane observed that 

Jill’s behavior was especially melancholy and asked her what was wrong. Jill told her that the 

Christian missionaries had visited that day. (Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 15). 

88. Jill told her mother that the missionaries had again “sung songs and played games” 

about god and Jesus. (Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 16). 

89. Jill said that missionaries would “toss a ball” to pick children out to participate in 

their activities, and that Jill had been picked. She told her mother that she “didn’t like being picked 

to talk about Jesus.” (Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 17-18). 

90. Jill then told her mother: “I didn’t want to get in trouble, so I pretended to believe 

in god.” (Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 19). 

91. Jane told Jill that she didn’t have to pretend. Jill responded: “I’ll get in trouble if I 

don’t.” (Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 20). 

92. Jill then spent the rest of the ride home “staring at the floor,” noticeably distraught. 

(Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 21). 

93. Shortly thereafter, Jill told her parents that she did not like the Missionaries classes 

and did not want to attend them anymore. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶¶ 22, 24). 
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94. After the November Missionaries class, Jane and John resolved that they could wait 

no longer and had to address the matter with the administration as soon as possible. (Decl. of Jane 

Doe, ¶ 22). 

95. On November 8, 2019, John Doe picked Jill up from school. While at the school 

building, John asked if he could speak to an administrator. Defendant Means came to meet with 

John. (Decl. of John Doe, ¶¶ 11-12). 

96. In the ensuing conversation, John questioned Defendant Means about the 

Missionaries program and expressed his concern over the lack of parental notice and approval for 

the classes. John specifically questioned Defendant Means about who the missionaries were, their 

qualifications, and the purpose of the Missionaries class. (Decl. of John Doe, ¶¶ 13, 15). 

97. Defendant Means informed John that the missionaries were “local,” but did not 

specify further. (Decl. of John Doe, ¶ 16). 

98. Defendant Means told John that the Missionaries program is “character education” 

and includes “songs and games.” (Decl. of John Doe, ¶ 17). 

99. Defendant Means acknowledged the religious and Christian content of the classes 

but represented to John that the classes are not based on a particular Christian sect or denomination. 

(Decl. of John Doe, ¶ 18). 

100. Defendant Means referred to the story of Noah’s Ark from the Christian Old 

Testament as an example of a Bible story that has been taught for the purposes of “character 

education.” (Decl. of John Doe, ¶ 19). 

101. Defendant Means opined that she was personally comfortable with the content of 

the presentations. (Decl. of John Doe, ¶ 20). 

102. Defendant Means further told John that the School District has run the Missionaries 

program for so long that it did not even occur to the School District to seek consent from parents. 

(Decl. of John Doe, ¶ 21). 
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103. By then it had become clear to John that Defendant Means did not share his 

concerns for the separation of church and state, and so he decided that his only option for the time 

being was to ask Defendant Means if his daughter could opt-out of the class. (Decl. of John Doe, 

¶¶ 21-23). 

104. Defendant Means cautioned John that Jill may not want to miss out on the class 

because all of her friends would be attending. (Decl. of John Doe, ¶ 24). 

105. Finally, Defendant Means said that Jill could opt-out of the class if she wanted. 

Defendant Means told John to simply bring a note to Jill’s teacher, Defendant Frederick, informing 

her that Jill may choose to not attend the class. (Decl. of John Doe, ¶ 25). 

106. Defendant Means represented to John that if Jill chose to not attend the Missionaries 

class, she could stay in the classroom with the class “granny,” Ms. Rojeana Farmer. (Decl. of John 

Doe, ¶ 26). 

107. John thanked Defendant Means for her time and left the school believing that he 

and Defendant Means had reached an understanding, at least with regard to Jill’s ability to opt-out 

of the Missionaries class. (Decl. of John Doe, ¶ 27; Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 23). 

108. Upon information and belief, no other parents in Jill’s class were told that their 

children could opt-out of the Missionaries class.  

109. Because Defendant Means did not address or attempt to resolve John’s overarching 

concern with the legality of the Missionaries program generally, John contacted the AHA’s legal 

department about the Missionaries program on November 21, 2019. (Decl. of John Doe, ¶ 28). 

110. The next day that the missionaries were scheduled to hold a class at the school was 

December 3, 2019. (Exhibit 1 at 40; Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 24). 

111. On December 3, 2019, Jane took Jill to school in the morning and accompanied her 

into the school building to speak with Defendant Frederick. (Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 25). 
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112. Upon meeting with Defendant Frederick, Jane gave her a note that said: “Please 

excuse [Jill Doe] from attending the missionaries assembly, if she chooses. Thank you, [Jane 

Doe].” A true and accurate copy of this note is attached herein as Exhibit 8. Exhibit 8 was furnished 

to Plaintiffs by the School District on December 13, 2019 pursuant to the AHA’s Open Records 

Request sent December 4, 2019. (See also Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 23; Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 26). 

113. Defendant Frederick took the note and acknowledged its contents. (Decl. of Jane 

Doe, ¶ 27).  

114. Jane told Defendant Frederick that she did not want Jill to be coerced or otherwise 

compelled to go to the Missionaries class. (Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 28). 

115. Defendant Frederick told Jane that that wouldn’t happen and that someone would 

stay behind with Jill in the classroom while the other students attended Missionaries class. (Decl. 

of Jane Doe, ¶ 29). 

116. Despite being on notice for about a month that Jill’s parents were not comfortable 

with the Missionaries program, and despite the opt-out note the School District received that 

morning, Jill was not permitted to stay behind. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶¶ 25-28). 

117. When the time came for the scheduled Missionaries class, Jill told Defendant 

Frederick that she did not want to go. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 25). 

118. Defendant Frederick then told Jill that she would have to attend Missionaries class 

because there was no one to stay behind with Jill in the classroom. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 26). 

119. Ms. Rojeana Farmer, the classroom “granny” who was supposed to watch Jill while 

the other children went to Missionaries class, was not present that day.  

120. The classroom teaching assistant, Ms. Reva Owl, was present that day, but did not 

stay behind with Jill. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 27). 

121. Jill was then forced to attend the Missionaries class. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 28). 
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122. Upon information and belief, this December 3, 2019 Missionaries class was much 

the same as previous classes, with songs and games about Jesus and children being called on to 

participate.  

123. During this class, the missionaries passed out a coloring sheet that depicts the birth 

of Jesus from the Bible. Above the image of Joseph, Mary and the baby Jesus in a manger is a 

partial Bible verse: “John 3:16 For God so loved the world that He gave His only begotten Son…” 

A true and accurate copy of this coloring sheet is attached herein as Exhibit 4 and 5. See also Decl. 

of Jill Doe, ¶ 28. 

124. This coloring sheet was placed in Jill’s backpack to take home with her at the end 

of the day. She did not have the option to refuse it. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶¶ 28-29). 

125. The missionaries also passed out a small tract specifically designed to evangelize 

children. The Christmas-themed tract, entitled “The Best Gift,” says, in part: “The best gift is what 

God gave us. He sent His Son, Jesus, to earth as a baby. Jesus grew to be a man and never did 

wrong. God allowed Jesus to die to pay for the bad things you do. Jesus loves you and wants to 

save you so you can go to Heaven with God.” The tract also includes several quotations from 

scripture. A true and accurate copy of the tract is attached herein as Exhibit 4 at 3. 

126. When Jane picked Jill up from school on December 3, 2019, the day of the 

Missionaries class, Jane noticed that Jill was visibly upset. Jill remained quiet for most of the ride 

home. (Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 30; Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 30). 

127. When Jane asked Jill why she was so down, Jill explained that she had not been 

allowed to opt-out of the class as promised and had instead been forced to go to the Missionaries 

class. (Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 30; Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 31). 

128. Jill said of the class: “I didn’t want to get in trouble, so I had to pretend to believe 

again.” (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 31; Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 31). 
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129. Jill remained very upset by the incident for several days afterward, with both of her 

parents noticing negative changes in her behavior that persisted in the days immediately following 

the December Missionaries class. (Decl. of Jill Doe, ¶ 30; Decl. of Jane Doe, ¶ 32). 

130. Attached herein as Exhibit 9 at 2 is a true and accurate copy of a note written by 

Defendant Frederick, Jill Doe’s prekindergarten teacher, dated December 3, 2019. The School 

District provided a copy of the note to AHA attorneys with redactions pursuant to the AHA’s Open 

Records Request. The teacher’s note references that the note provided by Jill Doe’s mother, “stated 

that ‘[Jill Doe] could go if [Jill Doe] chooses.’”  

131. Attached herein as Exhibit 6 is a true and accurate copy of the Open Records 

Request sent to Defendant Lori Means, on December 4, 2019 via electronic mail by Monica Miller.  

132. Attached herein as Exhibit 7 is a true and accurate copy of the School District’s 

letter in response to AHA’s Open Records Request, which was sent to Monica Miller on December 

13, 2019. In the letter, Bryan K. Drummond, counsel for the School District, wrote in part: “Please 

be further advised that after receipt of your Open Records Act request, the School District 

consulted with me concerning these missionaries and their involvement with the School District. 

I have outlined appropriate steps to avoid similar incidents. The School District’s administrators 

have in turn, discussed this matter with its staff and the missionaries. There will be no future visits 

to the School District by these missionaries.” Exhibit 7 at 3. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 42 U.S.C § 1983 

Violation of the First Amendment’s Establishment Clause 

(Against Defendant School District) 

133. All preceding allegations are incorporated herein by reference. 

134. The actions of the School District and its agents, servants, or employees, as 

described above, violate the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment of the United States 

Constitution (the “Establishment Clause”).  
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135. The Establishment Clause provides: “Congress shall make no law respecting an 

establishment of religion.”  

136. Defendants acted under color of law in violating the First Amendment as described 

herein in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.   

137. Such actions of the School District and its employees described above have harmed, 

and continue to cause harm to, Plaintiffs.  

138.  The School District’s actions surrounding the Missionaries program brazenly 

violated the Establishment Clause pursuant to decades of clearly-established precedent. See 

generally Santa Fe Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Doe, 530 U.S. 290 (2000); Lee v. Weisman, 505 U.S. 577 

(1992); Wallace v. Jaffree, 472 U.S. 38 (1985); Stone v. Graham, 449 U.S. 39 (1980); Sch. Dist. 

Abington v. Schempp, 374 U.S. 203 (1963); Engel v. Vitale, 370 U.S. 421 (1962); McCollum v. 

Bd. of Educ., 333 U.S. 203 (1948); Bell v. Little Axe Indep. Sch. Dist., 766 F.2d 1391 (10th Cir. 

1985). 

139. It is apodictic that a school district may not “allow public-school students to receive 

religious instruction on public-school premises.” Cty. of Allegheny v. ACLU, 492 U.S. 573, 590 

n.40 (1989).  

140. In 1948, in McCollum v. Board of Education, 333 U.S. 203, 231 (1948), the 

Supreme Court ruled that a public school violated the Establishment Clause by permitting part-

time religious instruction by nonpublic school personnel on its premises, even though participation 

was entirely voluntary. The Court reasoned: “This is beyond all question a utilization of the tax-

established and tax-supported public school system to aid religious groups to spread their faith.” 

Id. at 210.   

141. In Lee v. Weisman, 505 U.S. 577, 587 (1992), the Supreme Court declared that, “at 

a minimum, the [Establishment Clause] guarantees that government may not coerce anyone to 

support or participate in religion or its exercise.” In that case, the Court held that a public school’s 
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inclusion of a nonsectarian prayer in a single graduation ceremony was unconstitutionally coercive 

even though the event was technically voluntary and students were not required to participate in 

the prayer. Id. at 586. The Court reasoned that a school’s “supervision and control of a . . . 

graduation ceremony places public pressure, as well as peer pressure” on students. Id. at 593. 

Students opposed to the prayer are placed “in the dilemma of participating . . . or protesting.” Id. 

The Court concluded that a school “may not, consistent with the Establishment Clause, place 

primary and secondary school children in this position.” Id.  

142. Notably, in Santa Fe Independent  School District v. Doe, 530 U.S. 290, 310 (2000), 

the Supreme Court held that even student-initiated, student-led prayers at football games, which 

were completely voluntary, violated the Establishment Clause. The Court explained that even “if 

we regard every high school student’s decision to attend a home football game as purely voluntary, 

we are nevertheless persuaded that the delivery of a pregame prayer has the improper effect of 

coercing those present.” Id. at 311-12.  

143. In Bell v. Little Axe Independent School District, 766 F.2d 1391 (10th Cir. 1985), 

the Tenth Circuit affirmed the district court’s decision that an Oklahoma school district violated 

the Establishment Clause by endorsing a faculty-led religious club for elementary school children 

that met on school grounds immediately before school started. “The speakers included a minister, 

local athletes, and others speaking about how God and Christianity had benefited the speaker in 

his or her daily life. The program also included prayers, songs, and ‘testimony’ of students and 

other individuals concerning the benefits of knowing Jesus Christ.”  Id. at 1397. The Tenth Circuit 

held that it was irrelevant that the meetings were voluntary, reasoning “‘When the power, prestige 

and financial support of government is placed behind a particular religious belief, the indirect 

coercive pressure upon religious minorities to conform to the prevailing officially approved 

religion is plain.’” Id. at 1405 (quoting Engel v. Vitale, 370 U.S. 421, 430-31 (1962)). 
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144. The School District’s policies, practices, and customs of sponsoring, promoting, 

endorsing, favoring, and affiliating with Christian missionaries violated the Establishment Clause. 

145. The School District’s actions surrounding the longstanding Missionaries program 

violated the Establishment Clause even under the minimal coercion standard articulated in Lee.  

146. As a result of the School District’s policies, acts, and practices described above, 

Plaintiffs have suffered irreparable harm. 

147. Through its Missionaries program, the School District has interfered in private, 

familial matters of faith and personal philosophy, distressing and confusing a young girl torn 

between the authority of her parents and her teachers. 

148. Through its Missionaries program, the School District has caused Jill Doe to feel 

shamed and scorned for her non-theistic beliefs, causing her repeated mental anguish and 

emotional distress. 

149. Through its Missionaries program, the School District has repeatedly coerced Jill 

Doe to violate her conscience by feigning belief in the Christian god for fear of punishment. 

150. By affiliating itself with exclusively Christian missionaries for years, the School 

District has alienated Plaintiffs and all other non-Christians in the community which it serves, 

making them feel like unwelcome outsiders in their school district. 

151. The School District has failed to honor the sincere wishes of parents who do not 

want their child exposed to religious proselytizing, let alone at their public school. 

152. The School District has denied Jill Doe and other children their right to a secular 

public school education guaranteed to them under the First Amendment. 

153. The School District has affiliated with these missionaries for so long that the full 

extent of the damage cannot be known. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

Violation of the First Amendment’s Establishment Clause 
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(Against All Defendants Named in their Individual Capacities) 

154. All preceding allegations are incorporated herein by reference. 

155. The actions of the Defendants named in their individual capacities (hereafter 

“Individual Capacity Defendants”), as described above, violated the Establishment Clause. 

156. All Individual Capacity Defendants’ actions surrounding the Missionaries program 

brazenly violated the Establishment Clause pursuant to decades of clearly-established precedent. 

157. All Individual Capacity Defendants have interfered in private, familial matters of 

faith and personal philosophy, distressing and confusing a young girl torn between the authority 

of her parents and her teachers. 

158. Such actions of the Individual Capacity Defendants as described above have caused 

irreparable harm to Plaintiffs. 

 THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 42 U.S.C § 1983 

Violation of the First Amendment’s Establishment Clause 

(Against Defendant Means in her Individual Capacity) 

159. All preceding allegations are incorporated herein by reference. 

160. Defendant Means’ actions surrounding the Missionaries program amounted to an 

intentional or a reckless or callous indifference to Plaintiffs’ well-settled First Amendment rights. 

161. Defendant Means violated Plaintiffs’ well-settled First Amendment rights by 

permitting, orchestrating, endorsing, and/or facilitating the Missionaries program.  

162. Defendant Means violated Plaintiffs’ well-settled First Amendment rights by 

repeatedly subjecting captive student audiences, including Jill Doe, to Christian proselytization 

and religious instruction during school hours.  

163. Defendant Means authorized the Missionaries program for years, in which time 

unknown numbers of students were subjected to unabashed evangelism at their public school. 
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164. Defendant Means directed or encouraged staff under her direct supervision to plan 

for, promote, and facilitate the Missionaries program. 

165. Defendant Means was fully aware of the evangelistic Christian content presented 

at the Missionaries classes and expressed that she was personally comfortable with it.  

166. Defendant Means failed to ensure that school staff accommodated Jill Doe’s request 

to be excluded from the Missionaries class even after her conversation with John Doe put her on 

reasonable notice that that Jill’s parents were uncomfortable with the class. 

167. As the administrator with supervisory authority over all faculty and staff in the 

School District, Defendant Means had the authority to stop the Missionaries program, but failed 

to do so for her entire tenure as Superintendent until receiving the AHA’s Open Records Request 

in December of 2019. 

168.  As the chief executive officer of the School District, Defendant Means had a duty 

to ensure that the School District’s practices were in compliance with state and federal law and 

either intentionally, recklessly, or with callous indifference, failed to do so. 

169. As a school district Superintendent certified by the State of Oklahoma to act in that 

role, Defendant Means knew or should have known that the Missionaries classes were a blatant 

violation of clearly established constitutional law. 

170. As a school district Superintendent with over a decade of experience in that role, 

Defendant Means knew or should have known that the Missionaries classes were a blatant 

violation of clearly-established constitutional law. 

171. Punitive damages are an appropriate remedy to rectify years of repeated and brazen 

violations of the First Amendment that demonstrate either intentional, reckless, or callous 

indifference to the First Amendment rights of others. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 42 U.S.C § 1983 

Violation of the First Amendment’s Establishment Clause 
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(Against Defendant Harp in his Individual Capacity) 

172. All preceding allegations are incorporated herein by reference. 

173. Defendant Harp violated Plaintiffs’ First Amendment rights by authorizing and 

facilitating the Missionaries program.  

174. Defendant Harp violated Plaintiffs’ well-settled First Amendment rights by 

repeatedly subjecting captive student audiences, including Jill Doe, to Christian proselytization 

and religious instruction during school hours.  

175. Defendant Harp violated Plaintiffs’ First Amendment rights by authorizing staff 

under his direct supervision to plan for, promote, and facilitate the Missionaries class. 

176. As an administrator with supervisory authority over all faculty and staff at the 

School, Defendant Harp had the means to prevent the Missionaries class from continuing and 

intentionally, recklessly, or with callous indifference, failed to do so. 

177. Defendant Harp authorized and facilitated the Missionaries class as a monthly event 

at the School from the beginning of his tenure as Principal in July 2018 until December of 2019 

when the class was allegedly halted on advice of the District’s counsel.  

178. In that year-and-a-half-long period alone, hundreds of students in Defendant Harp’s 

charge were subjected to unabashed evangelism at their public school. 

179. As a school administrator with years of experience in public education, Defendant 

Harp knew or should have known that these classes were a blatant violation of clearly established 

constitutional law. 

180. Defendant Harp’s actions manifested intentional, reckless, or callous indifference 

to Plaintiffs’ well-settled constitutional rights under the Establishment Clause. 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

181. All preceding allegations are incorporated herein by reference.  

182. Plaintiffs request that this Court grant the following relief:  
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i. A declaratory judgment that Defendants’ actions and policies described above 

violate the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment to the United States 

Constitution;  

ii. An order awarding nominal damages to Plaintiffs;  

iii. An order awarding punitive damages to Plaintiffs from Defendant Means and 

Defendant Harp in an amount sufficient to deter similar violations in the future 

and to penalize Defendants for years of violating the Constitution; 

iv. An order awarding Plaintiffs reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses, and costs 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; 

v. An order awarding Plaintiffs such other relief as this Court deems just and 

proper. 

Respectfully Submitted,  
Date: October 27, 2020 

 
s/ James M. Branum       
JAMES M. BRANUM 
P.O. Box 721411 
Oklahoma City, OK 73172 
Telephone: 405-494-0562 
girightslawyer@gmail.com 
Oklahoma Bar No. 21087 
 
MONICA L. MILLER* 
AMERICAN HUMANIST ASSOCIATION   
1821 Jefferson Pl. NW 
Washington, D.C. 20036 
Telephone: 202-238-9088 
Facsimile: 202-238-9003 
mmiller@americanhumanist.org 
CA Bar: 288343 / DC Bar: 101625 
 
*Pro Hac Vice motion pending  
 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS   
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